
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web: www.dartford.gov.uk

 
 

Joint 
Transportation 

Board 
 

Chairman (KCC - t.b.c.) 
 

Mrs P Cole 
Mrs K Grehan 
Mr P Harman 
Mr J Kite MBE 

Mr J Ozog 
Mr Avtar Sandhu MBE 

 
Councillor B Garden (Vice-Chairman) 

Councillor E H Ben Moussa 
Councillor S P Butterfill 

Councillor A J Oakley-Dow 
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog 

Councillor R J Wells 
 

Parish Representatives – Cllr. Y Seymour and  
Cllr. S Thredgle   

 

Tuesday 7 June 2022 
at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford 

 
Chief Officer and Director of Corporate Services 

(26 May 2022) 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 
 



 
JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD  

AGENDA 
 

Tuesday 7 June 2022 
 
  
1. Apologies for Absence.   

 
 
2. Declarations of Interest   

 
 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 

terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any). 
 

 

 
3. Election of Chairman [KCC] and confirmation of Vice-Chairman 

[DBC] for the ensuing 2022 - 2023 Municipal Year  
 
 

 A Chairman to be nominated and elected from within the KCC 
Members represented on the Board, together with confirmation of the 
Vice-Chairman from the DBC Members represented on the Board, for 
the ensuing 2022-23 municipal cycle. 
 

 

 
4. To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Dartford Joint 

Transportation Board held on 8 March 2022  
(Pages 1 - 8) 

 
 
5. Urgent Items   

 
 The incoming Chairman will announce his/her decision as to whether 

there are any urgent items to be addressed by Members and their 
position on the agenda. 
 

 

 
6. References from other Committees (IF ANY)   

 
 There are no references from other Committees for Members to 

consider at present. 
 

 

 
7. Update from Incoming Chairman   

 
 
8. Matters Arising  (Pages 9 - 14) 

KCC 
 This report advises Members on the progress of matters arising at 

previous meetings of the Board, as set out in the Rolling Work Plan 
(Appendix A attached). 
 

 

 
9. Fastrack Update   

 



 To receive a verbal update from the Fastrack Manager Mr Hymers 
(KCC). 
 

 

 
10. Highways Improvements at Junctions 1a, 1b and 2 on M25   

 
 
11. Members Enquiry Items   

 
 Follow-Up following JTB held on 8 March 2022 [Min. No. 70 refers] 

 
 Ingress Park: Update from Cllrs. Butterfill, Harman and Mote; 
 Common Lane: Cllr. Sandhu to update Members; 
 Whitehead Close Wilmington: Cllrs. Garden and Sandhu to 

update the Board. 
 
In addition - Members have the opportunity to raise further 
questions/concerns on the following: - 
 

 Questions in relation to capital and revenue funded works 
programmes; 

 Suggestions for future traffic regulation orders or street 
management proposals; 

 Questions on policies, plans and strategies related to 
highways, road traffic and public transport; 

 Suggestion of a future agenda item (subject to the Chairman’s 
approval). 

 
 
 

 

ITEMS FOR INFORMATION 
 
12. Road Works in the Borough of Dartford   

 
 Members will be advised of the roadworks which were currently being 

undertaken or expected within the Borough. 
 

 

 
13. Lower Thames Crossing Update   

 
 To receive an update from Mr Agboola, Principal Transport Planner 

(DBC).  
 

 

 
14. KCC - Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee  (Pages 15 - 

36) 
 

 The following documents have been attached for Members’ 
information: 
  
 Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee Minutes for 18 

 



January 2022, 18 February 2022 and 17 March 2022. 
  

  
NB: If a Member wishes to discuss any of these items at the meeting, 
please advise the Member Services Section (01322) 343251 prior to 
the meeting. 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Joint Transportation Board held on Tuesday 8 
March 2022 at 7.00 pm 
 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor B Garden (Chairman, DBC) 
Mrs. P Cole (KCC) 
Mr. J Kite MBE (KCC) 
Mrs. K J Grehan (KCC) 
Mr. P Harman (KCC) 
Mr. J Ozog (KCC) 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE (DBC) 
Councillor S P Butterfill (DBC) 
Councillor S N Gosine (DBC) 
Councillor Mrs. J A Ozog (DBC) 
Councillor R J Wells (DBC) 
Councillor Mrs. Y Seymour (Dartford Parish Representative) 
Councillor Ms. S A Thredgle (Dartford Parish Representative) 
 

 
61. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE.  

 
All Board Members and Dartford Parish Council representatives were present. 
 
Cllr. Matthew Davis (DBC) was also in attendance, and subsequently joined 
the debate with the Chairman’s permission, to update the Board on an 
ongoing issue in his Ward under Matters Arising (Item 7). 
 
The Chairman advised that Kevin Gore (KCC Area Manager) had again 
declined to attend the proceedings on the advice of his Director. Conversely, 
Shane Hymers (KCC Fast Track Manager) had been given permission to 
attend the proceedings to update the Board. 
 
Members agreed that the question of consistent attendance by all KCC 
Officers to update the Board needed to be clarified, and the Chairman 
undertook to write to the KCC Cabinet Member in an effort to finally resolve 
the issue.  
 
The Chairman thanked Mr Hymers for his attendance and also welcomed the 
presence of the Council’s Principal Transport Planner, Mr Lukman Agboola to 
update Members. 
 

62. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

63. TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE DARTFORD 
JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD HELD ON 7 DECEMBER 2021.  
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 4



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
 

TUESDAY 8 MARCH 2022 
 

2

It was noted that attendance by Dartford Parish Council representatives had 
not been recorded in the minutes of the previous Board meeting on 7 
December 2021 and the Clerk undertook to correct the publish record with his 
apologies. 
 
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the minutes of the Board meeting held on 7 December 2021 be 
confirmed as accurate, with the addition on the amendment noted 
above. 

 
64. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY)  

 
There were no references from other Committees for the Board to consider. 
 

65. URGENT ITEMS  
 
The Chairman informed the Board that he wished Members to consider KCC’s 
proposed ‘Bus Funding Reductions’ publication as a matter of urgency.  
 
He advised Members that the KCC document had been issued by the County 
authority on a consultative basis, with a deadline for comments of 20 April 
2022. KCC proposals included proposed cuts to existing funding for both 
supported and commercial bus services.  
 
Dartford residents in Bean and Longfield would be particularly impacted over 
proposed funding cuts to the 474 and 475 services. It was also proposed to 
remove the current subsidy to the 433 and 489 services which would impact 
on New Ash Green residents. 
 
The Leader of the Council [in attendance as a KCC Member], informed the 
Board that as a Longfield resident and Councillor he had investigated the 
proposed funding cuts for routes 474 and 475. He had been surprised to learn 
that KCC funding at present amounted to some £114K per annum. Were KCC 
to cease their current subsidy the Council would not be able to replace it. A 
possible solution would be the funding off a small demand-led ‘hopper/flyer’ 
service, to connect Bean, Longfield and Wilmington residents to current 
Fastrack services. He would ask Officers to produce broad running costs to 
support a joint presentation to KCC. He also undertook to seek some 
continued level of subsidy from KCC to the services under threat. 
 
Members welcomed Cllr. Kite’s proposed actions as both KCC and Dartford 
Member, and expressed the following particular points of concern: 
 
 The proposed KCC funding cuts would particularly impact the elderly and 

adults travelling with children; 
 Any proposed cuts should be kept to a minimum to avoid multiple 

connection changes for users in the future; 

Page 2Agenda Item 4



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
 

TUESDAY 8 MARCH 2022 
 

3

 Cuts to the 474/475 routes would sever the current direct link to Bluewater; 
 Was a ‘Kick’ service a possibility for the more rural routes in Dartford. 
 
The Chairman invited the KCC Fastrack Manger, Shane Hymers [attending 
with the specific permission of his KCC Director], to update the Board on the 
proposed funding cuts to existing KCC subsidised bus services, and the 
implications for Fast Track A and B services [agenda Item 8 refers].  
 
Mr Hymers confirmed the following points for the Board: 
 

 The KCC consultation on proposed funding/subsidy to existing services 
was open until 20 April 2022 and DBC and KCC Members were 
encouraged to submit representations to the County authority before 
the deadline; 

 Fastrack A and B services were not being cut; 
 The Arriva Clip service was developer funded at present and therefore 

not subject to KCC funding or cuts; 
 The KCC funding pot was being re-aligned and KCC were open to 

proposals for a Dartford ‘feeder’ service to Fastrack A and B, including 
the consideration of ‘through-ticketing’ from a feeder service to 
Fastrack A and B, and car or bike hire at final destinations; 

 Similar mini ‘feeder’ services were currently available from Age UK, so 
any KCC review would include consideration of a possible aggregation 
with those existing services. 

 
The Chairman thanked Mr Hyman for his input, and advised Members of 
the following further points of concern regarding commercial bus services: 
 
 The need to expand the current Arriva Click service to Whitecliffe; 
 414 service to Darenth to be reduced to evening only and Saturdays 

a.m.; 
 433/489 Sunday services withdrawn, minor timetable changes; 
 455 service to Gravesend to be withdrawn on Sundays; 
 477 service from Orpington to Bluewater to be terminated in Dartford 

and Sunday service ceased. 
 
Members echoed the Chairman’s concerns and endorsed the Leader’s 
mooted proposals for a Council financed demand-led ‘hopper’ service for 
Dartford’s Parish residents to Fastrack routes A and B. The proposal to 
terminate the current 477 service in Dartford rather than Bluewater, and 
withdrawing the Sunday service was a particular concern.  
 
The Chairman had discussed with the Fastrack Manager the proposition of 
through-ticketing on the 477 service to connect with Fastrack B to allow 
Dartford passengers to continue their journeys to Bluewater and Darenth 
Valley Hospital, in the event that the proposed KCC cuts were implemented. 
Through-ticketing was also proposed for the 414 service from Darenth into 
Fastrack B in Dartford.  
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 4



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
 

TUESDAY 8 MARCH 2022 
 

4

The Fastrack Manager confirmed that he was happy to look at all/any 
proposals for through-ticketing on services subject to proposed KCC subsidy 
cuts, to help off-set the fiscal impact for passengers.  
 
There was also the possibility of a future funding stream for rural bus services 
under the Government’s 2021 National Bus Strategy. KCC had yet to receive 
its settlement figure from Government under the 2021 Strategy, which 
identified buses as part of the urban fabric, and included an element of 
funding for rural bus services, so could provide funding stream in the future. 
He undertook to report back to the next meeting of the Board in June 2022. 
 

66. CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE  
 
The Chairman had no other items to bring to the Committee’s attention. 
 

67. FASTRACK UPDATE  
 
Given the presence of the KCC Fastrack Manager, Shane Hymers, and the 
absence of the KCC Area Manager Kevin Gore, the Chairman proposed that 
Members receive a Fastrack Update first, then consider the updated ‘Matters 
Arising’ Appendix A document afterwards. 
 
Mr. Shane Hymers, KCC Fastrack Manager informed Members of the 
following developments regarding Fastrack A and B services [including items 
1-5 from the Matters Arising Appendix A report]. He also confirmed additional 
points in response to specific questions from Members regarding Fastrack 
services: 
 

 The Fastrack service remained unsatisfactory overall but had improved 
in the last 4 (four) weeks and was meeting its KPIs (Key Performance 
Indicators); 

 Arriva vehicles had been used to bolster Fastrack services, but other 
Arriva routes had suffered as a consequence; 

 The new dedicated AZ bus route for Amazon staff had been expanded 
to accommodate staggered shift times for Amazon workers but the 
service was due to cease in the near future; 

 The current bus turning circle in the Council’s Acacia car park would 
continue to be used by Fastrack services, with a proposal to expand 
the current facility to include electrical charging facilities for Fastrack’s 
new fleet of electric vehicles, and possibly taxis. Discussions were 
ongoing with identified energy companies with the aim of making 
Acacia a Fastrack Hub and relieve the current congestion in Home 
Gardens. A further update would be submitted to the Board in June; 

 Ingress Park was not serviced by Fastrack B which originated in 
Gravesend and was routed to Dartford via Bluewater. The new AZ 
route for Amazon workers did service Ingress Park thrice daily a.m. 
and p.m. to coincide with Amazon shift patterns. No reductions were 
envisaged for Fastrack B but timetable changes were due from April 
2022; 

Page 4Agenda Item 4



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
 

TUESDAY 8 MARCH 2022 
 

5

 Amazon staff had a pass which enabled use on all buses, Fastrack and 
AZ service, but through-ticketing for residents using both Fastrack A 
and B services was not yet a reality. Arriva had their own ticketing 
platform but KCC were in negotiations with the company over through-
ticketing proposals. For the 2023/24 fiscal year Arriva like TfL would be 
introducing a 1 hour (70 minute) through-service bus ticket; 

 No fares increases for concessionary journeys were proposed for 
Fastrack in 2022/23, but Arriva fares were set to increase in that 
period. An on-line consultation with Bridge residents had gone well, 
and residents would continue to benefit from a special concession from 
the developer Prologis at 97p per journey, with weekly, monthly and 
annual tickets priced pro-rata available to purchase on-line;  

 The bus lane on William Munday Way was currently used by the AZ 
Amazon service. However, from April 2022 the route would be taken 
over by Fastrack A. It was hoped that the new Fastrack service once in 
operation, allied to proposed future surveillance camera installation, 
would stop motorists using the track as an illegal rat-run as at present. 
Possible interim measures could be a manual barrier as in Gravesend 
Town Centre or blue ‘Bus Only’ lane markings. KCC would consider 
and continue to monitor the situation; 

 In other Fastrack matters, 5 manufactures known to KCC as supplying 
the Kent Thameside and Dover electric fleets, had submitted bids for 
KCCs zero-emissions bus fleet – further details to next Board meeting. 
KCC’s current Volvo electric bus would be used to supplement current 
Fastrack services on a ‘trouble-shooting’ basis during 2022-23. 
Fastrack was to get ‘living-roof’ shelters to aid the green economy with 
a possible spin-off for the ‘Green Planet Dartford’ initiative in terms of 
resident maintenance. Alternative materials were also being 
considered for the walls of shelters to combat the current spike in 
vandalism. Finally, KCC was looking at re-naming the current Fastrack 
bus ways in Dartford.    

 
68. MATTERS ARISING  

 
Members received copies of an updated Appendix A documented with 
annotated comments in blue on published items 12, 13,15,18, and 21 from 
Kevin Gore (KCC Area Manager), given his inability to attend the proceedings 
that evening.   
 
Following Member discussion that evening the Chairman proposed that items 
11, 13, 17, 20, 21 and 23 in Appendix A be ‘closed’. 
 
Members agreed that some concerns/outstanding action remained on the 
following listed items in Appendix A: 
 

 Item 9 Bean Interchange - no update on proposed highway 
improvements; 

 Item 10 Lower Thames Crossing – the area of impact was now 
subject to proposed changes/considerations and the new 

Page 5 Agenda Item 4



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
 

TUESDAY 8 MARCH 2022 
 

6

proposals had been referred to Ministers. Dartford Library was a 
Hub for resident consultation and input; 

 Item 12 – keep open [despite KCC assurances over bollard 
repairs], to monitor proposed new signage installation and 
railings at Church Rd; 

 Item 14 – CCTV of parking around schools: the Leader of the 
Council advised the Board that parking tickets issued were down 
which was positive, but that enforcement resources were finite. 
The Council hoped to expand the present CCTV camera 
operation in the 7 (seven) designated priority areas, with Brent, 
Swanscombe and Temple Hill being identified as key areas for 
CCTV installation; 

 Item 15 – Work in Central Road Dartford: chase KCC over traffic 
calming measures; 

 Item 16 – Parking Management Prioritisation Scheme – a report 
had been submitted to Cabinet for information by the Principal 
Transport Planner (DBC). The pilot study on Bow Arrow Lane 
[agenda Item 11 refers], had produced a poor resident 
response, and Double Yellow Lines were now proposed rather 
than a Scheme. Cabinet had proposed a Member Working Party 
to consider this and other proposed parking schemes including 
Ann of Cleaves Road; 

 Item 17 Kent Rural Bus Study / Routes 428 and 492 – no update 
from TfL; 

 Item 18 – Priory Road South Flooding Gutter – this remained 
subject to investigation by KCC’s Drainage Team. 
 

Post Meeting Note: Cllr Davis, Ward Member subsequently 
advised the Chairman of the following update from KCC: 
 

‘The survey [on 30 January] went well. I’ve only recently received the drawings back 
and I need to study the plans in greater detail with my manager. We are meeting this 
week so will go from there. It certainly appears that there are a lot of services located 
on the west side where the damaged gully is. My initial thoughts are to connect the 
gully to the one on the opposite side of the road as we cannot connect directly to the 
Thames Water sewer. That route is the least congested with other services although 
still very close to the UKPN high voltage cables so they would need to be consulted. 
 

 Item 19 – Enforcement Cameras at Blue Star Roundabout: 
Kent Police were being contacted over the number of tickets 
issued to motorists blocking the yellow box enforcement 
system; 

 Item 22 – Double Yellow Lines at Priory Close: Principal 
Transport Planner to chase up action with KCC. 

 
69. ARRIVA BUSES: PERFORMANCE OF ROUTE 414  

 
The Principal Transport Planner (DBC) advised the Board that reliability on 
the 414 Arriva route was running at between 70-74% with some challenges 

Page 6Agenda Item 4



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
 

TUESDAY 8 MARCH 2022 
 

7

over the new tender process to be worked through. He undertook to pass 
precise figures to the Board Clerk for circulating to Members. 
 

70. MEMBERS ENQUIRY ITEMS  
 
The following new concerns were raised by individual Board Members for 
consideration and adding to the Matters Arising Appendix A action document 
[agenda Item 7 refers]: 
 

 Ingress Park: Need to improve access for bin lorries and emergency 
vehicles. Action – Ward Cllrs. Butterfill, Harman and Mote to liaise and 
put agreed proposals to the Councils Waste & Parks Manager, 
including the identification of 8 (eight) specific ‘problem corners’ for 
Double Yellow Line painting by KCC (Sarah Rogers contact); 

 Common Lane: consideration of Yellow Lines with timing restrictions 
[Cllr. Sandhu]; 

 Whitehead Close Wilmington: resurfacing required [Cllr. 
Sandhu/Chairman to pursue off-line]. 

 
71. PRIORITISING THE INVESTIGATION OF REPORTED PARKING ISSUES 

AND PARKING MANAGEMENT SCHEMES - PILOT STUDY,  BOW 
ARROW LANE.  
 
The Board received an update from the Principal Transport Planner under 
‘Matters Arising’ [Agenda Item 7 Min. No. 68 refers]. 
 

72. MINOR TRAFFIC REGULATION ORDERS PROGRESSED  BY OFFICERS 
UNDER DELEGATED AUTHORITY  
 
No update from Officers. 
 

73. LOWER THAMES CROSSING - UPDATE  
 
Members received an update from the Principal Transport Planner under 
‘Matters Arising’ [Agenda Item 7 Min. No. 68 refers]. 
 

74. KCC - ENVIRONMENT, HIGHWAYS AND WASTE  
 
No update was made. 
 

75. KCC - ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT CABINET COMMITTEE (KCC E&T 
CC)  
 
The Board received and noted the Minutes of the KCC E&T Cabinet 
Committee meetings of held on 8 September and 3 November 2021.  
 
 
 

Page 7 Agenda Item 4



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
 

TUESDAY 8 MARCH 2022 
 

8

76. KCC OFFICER ATTENDANCE AT JTB  
 
The Chairman and KCC Board Members re-iterated their concerns over the 
non-attendance of some KCC Officers at the December 2021 and 8 March 
2022 Board meetings to update Members. 
 
It was agreed that the Chairman (DBC) would liaise further with Mr Ozog 
(KCC) with a view to making written representations to the KCC Cabinet 
Member Cllr. David Brazier. 
 
Mrs Cole (KCC) advised the Board that to her knowledge, KCC Transport 
Officers had participated remotely in Gravesend and Sevenoaks Council 
meetings and this might be an option for Dartford JTB meetings. 
 
Post Meeting Note: DBC IT Officers subsequently confirmed to the Board 
Clerk, that remote participation by KCC Officers was possible on request via 
Zoom or Teams.  
 
 
 

The meeting closed at 9.20 pm 
 
  

 
 

Councillor B Garden 
CHAIRMAN 

 
 

Page 8Agenda Item 4



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
7 June 2022

 
MATTERS ARISING 

 
1. Summary 

 
 

1.1 This report advises Members on the progress of matters arising at previous 
 meetings of the Board as set out in the Rolling Work Plan [Appendix A]. 

  
2.  RECOMMENDATION 

 
2.1  That Members note the contents of Appendix A to this report. 

 
 
 
3 Background and Discussion 
 
3.1 Previously, the Joint Transportation Board requested that a report on 

matters arising be placed on future agendas of this Board. 
 
3.2 The matters arising are as detailed in the Rolling Work Plan as set out 

in Appendix A to this report. 
 
3.3 A verbal update, where applicable, will be given at the meeting of this 

Board. 
 

4    Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
Not applicable 
 

5. Appendices 
 
Appendix A:  Rolling Work Plan - Matters Arising 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS: 
 
None  
 
Contact Officers :  As detailed in the Appendix to this report                       

Contact Number: 

 
KCC Highways & Transportation      08458 247 800 
 
Dartford Borough Council  01322 343251 
 

 

Page 9 Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



Dartford Joint Transportation Board  
 

Rolling Work Programme  
 

Tuesday 7 June 2022 
 

 Topic Action/Issue Request Update Responsible Due 
Date 

1.  Fastrack – Performance 
levels for service A, B 
and AZ 

Update since last report on 
performance figures and data. 
 
 

Standing 
Item 

 Shane Hymers Jun 22 

2.  14. Fastrack – Future 
Developments 

Updates on proposed Acacia Hub 
Update on new contract. 

Standing 
Item 

  Shane Hymers Jun 22  

3.  15. Fastrack – Through 
Ticketing 

Update on Proposals Standing 
Item 

 Shane Hymers Jun 22 

4.  16. Fastrack –  Update on bids for provision of 
Zero Emissions Fleet 

Standing 
Item 

 Shane Hymers Jun 22 

5.  17. Misuse of Busways by 
Motorists 

Update on installation of ANPR 
Cameras, manual barriers or Bus 
Lane road signage 

Standing 
Item 

 
 

Shane Hymers Jun 22 

6.  18. Bluewater Tunnel Update on progress Standing 
Item 

 Shane Hymers Jun 22 

7.  19. Highway Improvements 
at junctions 1a, 1b and 2 

Update on completed and future 
works 
 

Standing 
Item 

Last report to September 
21 Meeting 

National Highways Jun 22  

8.  20. A282 / M25 
COLLABORATION 
BETWEEN DBC, KCC 
HIGHWAYS AND 
NATIONAL HIGHWAYS 

Outcomes of Collaboration 
working meetings  

Standing 
Item 

 Lukman Agboola Jun 22 

9.  21. Highway Improvements 
at Bean Intersection 

Update on ongoing works Standing 
Item 

 National Highways Jun 22 

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 8



Dartford Joint Transportation Board  
 

Rolling Work Programme  
 

Tuesday 7 June 2022 
 

 Topic Action/Issue Request Update Responsible Due 
Date 

10.  22. Lower Thames Crossing Update on revised report to 
Ministers pre-March 2022 

Standing 
Item 

Mr Agboola updated 
Board in March 2022 

Lukman Agboola Jun 22 

11.  23. Parking Issues at Church 
Road 

Update on railings, signage and 
disabled bay in Church Road 

BG Mr Agboola updated 
Board in March 2022 

Lukman Agboola Jun 22 

12.  24. Work being undertaken 
to Central Road Dartford 

Update on proposed traffic 
calming measures 

RW  KCC Officer Jun 22 

13.  Arriva Performance 
Route 414/477 

Latest Performance statistics LR  Lukman Agboola Jun 22 

14.  Double Yellows Priory 
Close 

Further update from PTP (DBC) BG  Lukman Agboola Jun 22 

15.  Disabled Parking space 
2 Nelson Road 

Possible removal of parking space Mr Ozog  Lukman Agboola Jun 22 

16.   Maintenance of Street 
Planters 

An offer to maintain these by 
member of public 

Mr Ozog  KCC Officer Mar 22 

17.  Safety Assessment 
following fatal Road 
Accident 

Update on Safety Assessment Ms Grehan  KCC Roads Officer Mar 22 

18.  Active Travel Officer Update on start date of this new 
appointment and contact details 

BG  Lukman Agboola Jun 22 

19.  Local Cycling and 
Walking Infrastructure 
Plan 

Progress Update BG  Lukman Agboola Jun 22 

P
age 12

A
genda Item

 8



Dartford Joint Transportation Board  
 

Rolling Work Programme  
 

Tuesday 7 June 2022 
 

 Topic Action/Issue Request Update Responsible Due 
Date 

20.  Parking Services Annual 
Report 

Numbers of PCN by Location Standing 
Item 

 Parking Enforcement 2023 

21 Hanau Bridge Bus 
Shelter Street Lighting 

Update on issue 621700   KCC Officer Mar 22 

22 Replacement of Oak 
Trees on Summerhouse 
Drive 

Progress Update BG  KCC Officer  

       

 Items CLOSED Issues removed from the Report since the last meeting of the Board 
on 8 March 2022 

  

 Traffic Management Act 
2004 Part 2 Civil 
Enforcement  

 Chair   8.3.2022   

 25. Increased Pavement 
Provision for A225 
Dartford Rd. at S@H&H 

  Chair  8.3.2022   

 26. Kent Rural Bus Service 
and Routes 428/492 

 Chair 8.3.2022   

 27. Priory Rd. South 
Flooding Gutter 

 Cllr. Davis 8.3.2022   

 Heather Lane Speed 
Restrictions 

 Chair 8.3.2022   

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 8



Dartford Joint Transportation Board  
 

Rolling Work Programme  
 

Tuesday 7 June 2022 
 

 Topic Action/Issue Request Update Responsible Due 
Date 

 Area(sAreas with split resident 
parking schemes 

 Chair 8.3.2022   

 Parking Management 
Prioritisation Scheme(s) 

 Chair 8.3.2022   

       

       

       

P
age 14

A
genda Item

 8



1 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT CABINET COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee held 
Online on Friday, 18 February 2022. 
 
PRESENT: Mr S Holden (Chairman), Mr R C Love, OBE (Vice-Chairman), Mr Baker, 
Mr M Baldock, Mr C Beart, Mr T Bond, Mr I S Chittenden, Mr N J Collor, Mr D Crow-
Brown, Mr M Dendor, Mr A R Hills, Mrs S Hudson, Mr H Rayner, Mr B H Lewis and 
Mr D Watkins 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mr D L Brazier (Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport), 
Sir Paul Carter, CBE and Mr M A J Hood 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr S Jones (Corporate Director for Growth, Environment and 
Transport), Mr P Lightowler (Interim Director of Transportation), Mr S Pay (Transport 
Integration Manager), Mr J Cook (Democratic Services Manager), Mr M Dentten 
(Democratic Services Officer), Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer) and 
Miss K Reynolds (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
Mr Love took the chair for items 1 to 5 because the chairman, Mr Holden, was unable 
to connect to the meeting due to a power cut until Item 5 when he took over the chair. 
 
59. Declarations of Interest by Members in items on the Agenda  
(Item 3) 
 
No declarations were made. 
 
60. 21/00124 - Kent Travel Saver Price Increase  
(Item 4) 
 

1. Mr Brazier introduced the proposed key decision to increase the cost of the 

Kent Travel Saver from £370 per academic year to £450 and the low-income 

Kent Travel Saver from £120 per academic year to £150. He provided a 

summary of the debate on the issue at Budget County Council on 10 

February. He confirmed that whilst the budget had agreed the financial 

provision, that a decision was required to change the Council’s policy. 

 

2. Mr Chittenden commented that the decision coincided with significant cost of 

living challenges and noted that it would have an impact on low income 

households.  

 

3. Mr Baldock proposed and Mr Lewis seconded a motion that “the 

Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee recommend that the 

Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport delay the decision until 

New Homes funding and other related funding is received.” 

 

Page 15 Agenda Item 14



 

2 

4. Members voted on the motion. The motion was lost. 

 

5. Mr Hood commented that the decision was in contradiction with the Council’s 

climate change commitments and would lead to an increase in car use for 

home to school transport. Mr Brazier reminder members that the intention of 

decision to was to make budget savings from discretionary spend and that 

other consequences had been considered.  

 

6. Members voted on the recommendation to “endorse the Cabinet Member for 

Highways and Transport on the proposed decision to increase the cost of the 

standard Kent Travel Saver from £370 per academic year to £450.” Mr 

Baldock abstained on the motion to endorse the proposed decision. The 

motion was won. 

RESOLVED to endorse the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport on the 
proposed decision to increase the cost of the standard Kent Travel Saver from £370 
per academic year to £450. 
 
61. Supported Bus Services Public Consultation  
(Item 5) 
 

1. Mr Brazier set out his intention to run a public consultation from February 

through April 2022 concerning a reduction in KCC’s subsidy of bus routes. He 

asked for the committee’s support for the public consultation and reminded 

members that a related key decision would return to the committee for its 

endorsement in due course. 

 

2. Mr Lewis asked, in relation to section 3.3 of the report which confirmed that 

several students were provided entitled free home to school transport on the 

affected contracts and that this could be revised to include bespoke transport 

at a higher cost to the Children, Young People and Education directorate, 

whether there had been agreement for the directorate to fund the additional 

costs mentioned. Mr Brazier confirmed that the cost implications were being 

investigated and that the relevant Cabinet Members and officers were aware 

of the entitled student element on the services. 

 

3. Mr Baldock commented that the reduction in subsidised services could have a 

significant impact on residents and car usage. He asked the Cabinet Member 

to consider the social impact of future decisions. He added that the 

consultation was an important mechanism for understanding the consequence 

of changes on residents lives.  

 

4. Mr Hood commented that KCC should wait for confirmation of its Bus Back 

Better funding before considering reductions in bus service subsidy.  

Mr Holden took the chair, and thanked Mr Love for standing in as chairman. 
 

5. Sir Paul Carter raised concern that many bus services, including Kent Karrier, 

were subsidised to reduce social isolation and prevent independent living 

amongst vulnerable residents. He asked that elderly and vulnerable residents 

be permitted to respond to the consultation by post. Mr Brazier reminded 

Page 16Agenda Item 14



 

3 

members that budget savings were required from the County Council’s 

discretionary spend and that the cost per journey of many subsidised services 

was significant. He confirmed that negotiations on cost and future services 

would be carried out with operators. Mr Lightowler confirmed that the 

consultation process would involve hard copies and that there was a freepost 

address for responses. He reassured the committee that Kent Karrrier users 

would be written to regarding proposed changes and asked for their 

comments.  

 

6. Mr Baldock abstained on the motion to support the proposed consultation.  

RESOLVED to support consultation on a range of measures (including supported bus 
contract withdrawals) required to reduce KCC expenditure on supported bus 
services. 

Page 17 Agenda Item 14



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



1 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT CABINET COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee held  
Online on Tuesday, 18 January 2022. 
 
PRESENT: Mr S Holden (Chairman), Mr R C Love, OBE (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr N Baker, Mr M Baldock, Mr C Beart, Mr T Bond, Mr I S Chittenden, Mr N J Collor, 
Mr D Crow-Brown, Ms M Dawkins, Mr M Dendor, Mr A R Hills, Mrs S Hudson, 
Mr B H Lewis, Mrs L Parfitt-Reid and Mr D Watkins 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mr P J Oakford (Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Corporate and Traded Services), Mr D L Brazier (Cabinet Member for Highways and 
Transport), Miss S J Carey (Cabinet Member for Environment), Mr M A J Hood, Mr H 
Rayner and Ms L Wright 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr S Jones (Corporate Director for Growth, Environment and 
Transport), Mrs S Holt-Castle (Director of Growth and Communities), Mr P Lightowler 
(Interim Director of Transportation) and Mr M Dentten (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
46. Declarations of Interest by Members in items on the Agenda  
(Item 3) 
 
No declarations were made. 
 
47. Minutes of the meeting held on 3 November 2021  
(Item 4) 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 3 November 2021 were an 
accurate record and that they be signed by the Chairman. 
 
48. Verbal Updates by Cabinet Members and Corporate Director  
(Item 5) 
 
1. The chairman informed the committee that Barbara Cooper, formerly Corporate 

Director of Growth, Environment and Transport, had been awarded an MBE in the 
New Year Honours, for services to Transport and the Covid-19 Response.  

 
2. Mr Brazier gave a verbal update. He informed members that he had visited the 

newly renovated Swanley and Maidstone East train stations, which KCC secured 
funding for through the South East Local Enterprise Partnership. He confirmed 
that Ashford Truckstop had opened in December 2021 and accommodated 
overnight lorry parking facilities. He noted that he had attended the ADEPT Live 
Labs Expo in Derby. Regarding the London Gatwick emergency runway 
consultation, he informed members that KCC had submitted its strong opposition 
to the proposal.  

 
RESOLVED that the verbal update be noted. 

Page 19 Agenda Item 14



 

2 

 
49. Petition Scheme Debate - Proposed cycle lanes in Cheriton  
(Item 7) 
 
 
 

1. The chairman informed the committee that the lead petitioner would no longer 
be addressing the committee. 

 
2. Mr Love, as a local member, provided a verbal overview of the petition 

statement and outlined the anticipated impact of the proposed cycle lanes, 
which included a negative impact on local businesses as a result of decreased 
roadside parking. He acknowledged the significant level of public support and 
confirmed that two public meetings involving himself and Mr Jeffrey were held 
in October 2021 to understand the possible local impact of the proposals.  
 

3. Mr Brazier responded to the petition. He confirmed that a public consultation 
had taken place and that following the local response the scheme would not 
proceed. He noted that there would be further investigations into other ways to 
facilitate active travel in the area and that these proposals would be brought to 
the committee in due course. He made a commitment to work with local 
members on future schemes of a similar nature. 
 

4. Mr Love proposed and Mr Holden seconded a motion that “the Environment 
and Transport Cabinet Committee:  
 
a) note the petition and thank Mr John Baker, the lead petitioner and 

proprietor of County Hardware, Cheriton, for taking the time to submit 
his petition; 

 
b) join with the petitioner in recommending to the Cabinet Member for 

Highways and Transportation not to proceed with the current 
Cheriton active travel scheme; and 

 
c) recommend that the Cabinet Member works with the local Members to 

consider the feasibility of alternative proposals which safeguard the 
economic vibrancy of Cheriton High Street.” 

 
5. The motion was agreed unanimously. 

 
RESOLVED to: 

 
a) note the petition and thank Mr John Baker, the proprietor of County 

Hardware, Cheriton, for taking the time to submit his petition; 
 
b) join with the petitioner in recommending to the Cabinet Member for 

Highways and Transportation not to proceed with the current Cheriton 
active travel scheme; and 

 
c) recommend that the Cabinet Member works with the local Members to 

consider the feasibility of alternative proposals which safeguard the 
economic vibrancy of Cheriton High Street. 

Page 20Agenda Item 14



 

3 

 
50. 21/00118 - Active Travel Capital Projects  
(Item 9) 
 
Nikola Floodgate (Schemes Planning and Delivery Manager) was in attendance for 
this item. 
 

1. Mrs Floodgate gave a technical overview of the proposed executive decision 
and related scheme, which included scheme timelines, public consultation 
results and reference to previous projects of a similar nature endorsed by the 
committee.  

 
2. Mr Chittenden highlighted the improved arrangements for the Active Travel 

Tranche 2 schemes in comparison to Tranche 1. He noted that greater time for 
consultation and assessment of each scheme’s impact were the main reasons 
for the improvement. Mr Brazier reminded members of the tight time 
constraints set by the Department for Transport in Tranche 1 which impact the 
ability to hold a full scoping and public consultation process.  
 

3. Ms Dawkins thanked the officers involved in the proposed scheme for 
cooperating with her as the local member and noted the significant level of 
public support. 
 

4. Mr Watkins reminded members of the important benefits related to active 
travel, which included: health, environmental and economic improvements. 
 

5.  Mrs Wright asked that disabled access be considered in all future schemes 
and that electric charging points for mobility scooters be investigated, if within 
the funding guidelines. Mrs Floodgate agreed to investigate the request with 
the Department for Transport. 

 
RESOLVED to endorse the proposed decision of the Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Transport to proceed to the detailed design and then construction of the 
Canterbury: Littlebourne to City Centre Active Travel scheme. 
 
51. 21/00116 - National Bus Strategy and Kent Bus Service Improvement Plan: 
Next Steps and implementation of Kent Enhanced Partnerships  
(Item 10) 
 
Stephen Pay (Public Transport Planning and Operations Manager) and Dan Bruce 
(Policy, Infrastructure and Community Transport Manager) were in attendance for 
this item. 
 

1. Mr Brazier explained the reasons for the proposed executive key decision and 
informed members of the deadline, set by the Department for Transport, of 
April 2022 to form Enhanced Partnership Agreements with bus operators. He 
gave a summary of developments to that point. He confirmed that KCC had 
not yet received confirmation of its funding allocation from the Department for 
Transport. Mr Lightowler further explained that a function of Enhanced 
Partnerships was to act as a mechanism for funding bus service investment. 
 

Page 21 Agenda Item 14



 

4 

2. Mr Bruce gave an overview of the National Bus Strategy. A number of key 
points were highlighted and included: that local authorities were enablers of 
bus service improvements; that incentives in ticketing infrastructure were 
required; that £1.2bn had been allocated to the strategy nationally; and that 
public feedback had been used to inform the contents of the strategy. He 
confirmed that the Kent Bus Service Improvement Plan included 47 proposals, 
which would be open for public consultation. He informed members that 
confirmation of the funding allocation was expected in February 2022. He 
noted that bus usage in Kent stood at 60% of its pre-pandemic level, with 
Government subsidising operators to March 2022.  
 

3. Mr Baldock raised his concerns that the deadlines set by the Department for 
Transport would lead to a hurried allocation of funding, which could impact 
transport links across Kent. Mr Lightowler reassured members that the service 
planning process took account of usage, geography, service patterns and 
operators. 
 

4. Mr Love commented that bus operators were capable of engaging customers 
and making service improvements without KCC oversight. He asked that 
digital displays at bus stops be installed to the greatest possible extent. 
 

5. Mr Bond observed that there had been a trend of falling bus use before the 
pandemic. He asked what could be done to encourage car users to use public 
transport. Mr Lightowler confirmed that increasing bus usage was a core 
principle of the strategy, with a dual focus on pandemic recovery and medium 
term growth.  
 

6. Members asked that the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport write to 
the Department for Transport highlighting concerns related to the deadlines 
associated with the National Bus Strategy and the possible impact they could 
have on delivery. 

 
RESOLVED to endorse the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport on the 
proposed decision to support the proposed next steps and specifically the Executive 
Decision to form Enhanced Partnership Schemes. 
 
52. Draft Ten Year Capital Programme, Revenue Budget 2022-23 and Medium 
Term Financial Plan 2022-25  
(Item 8) 
 
Peter Oakford (Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance, Corporate and 
Traded Services), Zena Cooke (Corporate Director of Finance), Dave Shipton (Head 
of Finance Policy, Planning and Strategy) and Cath Head (Head of Finance 
Operations) were in attendance for this item. 
 

1. Mr Oakford introduced the Draft Ten Year Capital Programme, Revenue 
Budget 2022-23 and Medium Term Financial Plan 2022-25 proposals. He 
addressed the financial context that the budget had been drafted in, which 
included continued costs related to the pandemic, changes in work practices 
and increases in service demand. He confirmed that the Ten Year Capital 
Programme had been drafted to prevent project slippage. Regarding 
borrowing, he reassured members that it would only be used if required to fulfil 

Page 22Agenda Item 14



 

5 

statutory duties. He stated that whilst central government funding and the tax 
base had increased, that they would not cover costs increases without 
savings. Further reassurance was given that future savings would go out for 
public consultations and involve individual executive key decisions.   
 

2. Mr Jones provided a technical overview of the £173.8m Growth, Environment 
and Transport portion of the draft revenue budget, which represented a £3.7m 
reduction from 2021-22. He addressed the key financial challenges faced by 
the directorate which included scarcity in supply, price increases, asset 
investment requirements and increased service demand. He reassured the 
committee that the directorate’s financial position was sustainable. Addressing 
the £1.5bn capital budget, he confirmed that most of the programme was 
funded through government grants and external funding. He raised concerns 
at the reduction in Department for Transport highways asset management 
grant funding from £73m to £59m. 
 

3. Mr Brazier addressed key budget developments within his portfolio. He 
explained the cost pressures and acknowledged the complexity of the revenue 
budget. He confirmed that a reduction in the subsidy of the Kent Travel Saver 
scheme was included in the draft budget, which necessitated a price increase 
in the pass from £370 to £450 per academic year. The committee were 
informed that a separate key decision would be taken following the approval of 
the budget at County Council on 10 February. He highlighted a proposed 
£300,000 investment in rural swathe maintenance, which sought to support 
KCC’s commitments to biodiversity. He added that in excess of £500,000 had 
been allocated to fund Active Travel and Vision Zero projects.  
 

4. Mr Baldock commented that given recent increases in population and service 
demand it was difficult to provide the same levels of service without further 
Government grant funding. He raised his concerns at the impact of the 
reduction in highways asset management grant funding on the network.  
 

5. Ms Dawkins shared her concerns at the possible impact of the Kent Travel 
Saver price increase on families given the additional financial burden. Mr 
Brazier recognised the impact and acknowledged the difficulty faced in setting 
a balanced budget. He added that the subsidy of the scheme was non-
statutory. He addressed alternative options which included withdrawing the 
scheme altogether and stated that the proposed change represented a lesser 
of two evils. 

 
RESOLVED to note the draft capital and revenue budgets including responses to 
consultation. 
 
53. Decisions taken between Cabinet Committee Meetings  
(Item 6) 
 
 

1. Miss Carey explained that key decision 21/00109, Kings Hill Solar Park, was 
taken between meetings of the Cabinet Committee due to related Public 
Sector Decarbonisation Scheme funding deadlines and the associated land 
purchase involved in facilitating the project. She made members aware that 
future key decisions funded through the Public Sector Decarbonisation 

Page 23 Agenda Item 14



 

6 

Scheme may need to be taken in accordance with urgent decision protocol, 
given the time constraints. 
 

RESOLVED to note that decision 21/00109, Kings Hill Solar Park was taken between 
meetings of the Cabinet Committee in accordance with the process set out in the 
Council’s constitution. 
 
54. Ash Die-back Annual Report  
(Item 12) 
 
Tony Harwood (Resilience and Emergency Planning Manager) was in attendance for 
this item. 
 

1. Miss Carey introduced the report, stressed the importance of ash trees to 
Kent’s environment and acknowledged the threat posed by ash die-back.  
 

2. Mr Harwood provided a technical overview of developments. He noted that it 
had been almost 10 years since ash die-back had been identified in the UK 
and that members had previously agreed to take an evidence based 
approach. He confirmed that European ash was the most widespread tree 
species in the county, with significant prevalence in the Kent Downs Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty and along the Greensand Ridge. Regarding tree 
removal, he reassured members that this only happens for health and safety 
purposes and that surveyors monitor areas year on year. Further reassurance 
was given that the containment policy enacted in Kent ensured good 
biosecurity. Concerning the severity of the disease, he recognised that it has 
not proved as destructive in the county as originally forecast, with urban trees 
seemingly better protected from infection than trees growing in woodland. 
 

RESOLVED to: 
 

a) note the significant threat Ash Dieback poses to the environment and 
economy of Kent;  

 
b) acknowledge the local and national leadership role of the County Council in its 

response to the pathogen and the resultant environmental and financial 
benefits that have accrued from the science-led response; and 
 

c) endorse the planning, monitoring and response contingencies outlined within 
this report. 

 
55. 21/00123 - Household Waste Recycling Centre Booking  
(Item 11) 
 
David Beaver (Head of Waste and Business Services) and Hannah Allard (Waste 
Business Development Manager) were in attendance for this item. 
 

1. Miss Carey introduced the proposed key decision and explained the intention 
to permanently operate a booking system for customers accessing KCC’s 
Household Waste Recycling Centres. She highlighted that the public 
consultation had received the largest number of responses of any KCC 
consultation in recent years.  

Page 24Agenda Item 14



 

7 

 
2. Mr Beaver gave an overview of the temporary booking system and the 

operational benefits of using the system permanently. He confirmed that the 
system had been developed by bookinglab, that there were no booking limits 
and that bookings could be amended and cancelled. He informed members 
that a £1.3m saving was expected as a result of the proposed decision. He 
noted that whilst the number of trips made to sites had decreased since the 
adoption of the temporary booking system, that the volume of waste received 
had increased by 10%. Addressing site traffic, he confirmed that queuing on 
high speed road network has been eradicated as a result of the system. 
 

3. Hannah Allard gave a presentation. Topics covered in the presentation 
included: the booking system offer; environmental, customer, operational and 
financial benefits; and the public consultation process and results. 
 

4. Mr Hills shared his positive experience using the same day booking 
arrangement at the New Romney Centre and that there was significant local 
support for the proposal.   
 

5. Mr Love stated that he would be unable to endorse the proposed decision on 
the basis that he believed it constituted a continuation of Covid-19 emergency 
measures. 
 

6. Mr Lewis proposed and Mr Baldock seconded a motion that “the 
Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee recommends that the 
Cabinet Member for Environment considers the adoption of a hybrid 
Household Waste Recycling Centre booking system, comprised of a 
Wednesday to Saturday booking arrangement and Sunday to Tuesday 
non-booking arrangement.” 
 

7. Members voted on the motion. The motion was lost. 
 
RESOLVED to endorse the Cabinet Member for Environment on the proposed 
decision for: 
 

a) the Waste Management service to permanently operate a booking system for 
customers to access Kent County Council’s Household Waste Recycling 
Centres: and  

 
b) the Corporate Director for Growth, Environment and Transport to keep 

progress of the booking system under review and to inherit the main 
delegations via the Officer Scheme of Delegation to make any further 
operational changes to the booking system to maximise customer service. 

 
56. Presentation from Southern Water  
(Item 13) 
 
Dr Toby Willison (Director of Environment and Corporate Affairs, Southern Water) 
was in attendance for this item. 
 

1. Dr Willison gave a presentation. Topics covered in the presentation included: 
the Environment Agency Court Case and £90m fine; investments in Kent, 

Page 25 Agenda Item 14



 

8 

2020-2025; 2040 targets; the water challenge; nutrient neutrality; combined 
sewer and overflow operations; reducing storm overflows; Combined Sewer 
Overflows Task Force; Drainage and Wastewater Management Plans; work 
with developers; and areas for cooperation with KCC members.  
 

2. Mr Lewis explained that residents in his division had been affected by 
wastewater releases and asked whether executives at Southern Water had 
received bonuses during the period. Dr Willison apologised and confirmed that 
a review of the company’s bonus system had been overseen by its 
renumeration committee, with the CEO not taking a bonus for the previous 3 
years.  
 

3. Mr Baker, who’s division included the Swalecliffe facility, gave an overview of 
developments over the last year including the negative impact of untreated 
wastewater releases on the local population and business. He shared his 
concerns with the infrastructure in place and stressed the need to increase 
resilience within the water treatment and storage system. He asked that 
investment in a rapid testing and response mechanism be undertaken. Dr 
Willison highlighted the Beachbuoy system which provided a simple real-time 
water monitor and was set for deployment in Herne Bay. He added that new 
features would be ready for the 2022 Bathing Water season. 
 

4. In response to a question from Ms Dawkins, Dr Willison confirmed that 
ultraviolet solutions were used at the Swalecliffe facility as a treatment 
measure. 
 

5. Mr Hills asked for further information on Southern Water’s strategy to address 
increasingly frequent extreme weather events. Dr Willison agreed to provide 
the request information in a future update. 
 

6. Mr Baldock asked that Southern Water’s ability to accommodate planned 
residential developments be included in future updates. 
 

7. Following a question from Mrs Parfitt-Reid, Dr Willison confirmed that the 
£90m fine had been paid to HM Treasury.  
 

8. Mr Hood stated that Southern Water needed to improve communication with 
residents affected by future developments and mitigation measures. 
 

9. The chairman asked for examples of KCC-Southern Water cooperation 
opportunities. Dr Willison spoke on the importance of collaborating to reduce 
the impact of surface water runoff, aligning infrastructure investment was 
highlighted, with the importance of the relationship between KCC Highways 
and Southern Water noted.  
 

10. The chairman thanked Dr Willison for his attendance and commitment to 
update the committee later in the year.  

 
RESOLVED to note the contents of the presentation and ask that Southern Water 
report back to the committee in autumn 2022. 
 

Page 26Agenda Item 14



 

9 

57. Performance Dashboard  
(Item 14) 
 
Rachel Kennard (Chief Analyst) was in attendance for this item. 
 

1. Ms Kennard gave a verbal summary of the performance dashboard up to 
October 2021. She confirmed that of the 19 key performance indicators within 
the remit of environment and transport, 15 had been RAG rated green, 4 
amber and 0 red. She acknowledged that this reflected good overall 
performance. 

 
RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 
58. Work Programme  
(Item 15) 
 

1. The chairman confirmed that the following items had been added to the work 
programme: 

a. Traffic Management Act Part 6 update 
b. Southern Water update 

 
2. Ms Dawkins asked that an update on Kent’s cycling network be added to the 

work programme.  
 
RESOLVED that the work programme be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
(a) FIELD 
(b) FIELD_TITLE  

Page 27 Agenda Item 14



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 28



1 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT CABINET COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee held in 
the Council Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone. on Thursday, 17 
March 2022. 
 
PRESENT: Mr S Holden (Chairman), Mr M Baldock, Mr C Beart, Mr I S Chittenden, 
Mr N J Collor, Mr D Crow-Brown, Ms M Dawkins, Mr M Dendor, Mr A R Hills, 
Mrs S Hudson, Mr D Jeffrey, Mr B H Lewis, Mr H Rayner, Mr A Sandhu, MBE, 
Mr D Watkins and Mr A Weatherhead 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mr D L Brazier (Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport) and 
Miss S J Carey (Cabinet Member for Environment) 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr S Jones (Corporate Director of Growth, Environment and 
Transport), Mrs S Holt-Castle (Director of Growth and Communities), Mr P Lightowler 
(Interim Director of Transportation) and Ms E Kennedy (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
62. Election of Vice Chairman  
(Item 2) 
 

1. The chairman proposed and Mr Hills seconded that Mr Collor be elected vice-

chairman of the committee. 

 

2. Ms Dawkins proposed and Mr Hood seconded that Mr Lewis be elected vice-

chairman of the committee. 

 

3. Members voted on the election of vice-chairman. 

 

4. It was agreed by majority vote that Mr Collor be elected vice-chairman of the 

committee. 

RESOLVED that Mr Collor be elected vice-chairman of the committee. 
 
63. Declarations of Interest by Members in items on the Agenda  
(Item 5) 
 

1. Mr Jeffrey declared, in relation to Item 9 (22/00022 - Active Travel Funding 

Tranche 2), that he had been employed by a business on one of the proposed 

active travel routes and that this had been disclosed in his Register of 

Interests. 

  

2. No other declarations were received. 

 
 

Page 29 Agenda Item 14



 

2 

64. Minutes of the meetings held on 18 January and 18 February 2022  
(Item 6) 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meetings held on 18 January and 18 February 
2022 were an accurate record and that they be signed by the Chairman. 
 
65. Verbal Updates by Cabinet Members and Corporate Director  
(Item 7) 
 

1. Miss Carey gave a verbal update. She reminded the committee that her 

quarterly waste management briefing had recently been circulated to all 

members and noted that her environment briefing would be circulated soon, 

including a summary of Lord Deben’s (Chairman of the Climate Change 

Committee) visit to Kent on 8 March. She highlighted the public response to 

the Solar Together collective buying scheme, which was open to households, 

small businesses and community groups, with almost 10,000 people 

registering interest in the scheme. She explained the scheme’s benefits, which 

included reduced unit cost as a result of collective buying.  

 

2. Mr Brazier gave a verbal update. He shared the intention to permit one day 

conditional road closures, for the purpose of street parties to celebrate the 

Platinum Jubilee. He noted that he had recently visited, with the Leader and 

Deputy Leader, the Thanet Parkway station which was under construction and 

is due to open in May 2023. He informed members that he had visited Dover 

for the ground-breaking of Dover Fastrack, Kent's first zero-emission bus 

service, which when complete in 2023 will connect Whitfield, White Cliffs 

Business Park, the town centre and Port. He concluded that he had attended 

the Prince Michael International Road Safety Awards in London. 

 

3. Mr Jones gave a verbal update. He detailed the schemes delivered by KCC 

and financed through the Department for Transport’s Safer Roads Fund. He 

confirmed that the A290 scheme in Ashford had received an award from 

Prince Michael of Kent for its contribution to road safety. He addressed the 

operational response to Storms Eunice and Franklin and noted that in excess 

of 1200 public enquires were received and responded to over the period. He 

reminded members that the public consultation for Plan Tree was open and 

that the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan consultation had concluded, with 

officers subsequently analysing the feedback. 

RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted. 
 
66. Decisions taken between Cabinet Committee Meetings  
(Item 8) 
 

1. Mr Brazier explained that he had taken key decision 22/00018 (Highway Rural 

Swathe Contract Maintenance Frequencies), which permitted two swathe cuts 

with tiered conservation cuts, between Cabinet Committee meetings in order 

to allow for a 1 April 2022 contract start date and contractors the time to 

mobilise. 

Page 30Agenda Item 14



 

3 

RESOLVED to note that decision 22/00018: Highway Rural Swathe Contract - 
Maintenance Frequencies was taken between meetings of the Cabinet Committee in 
accordance with the process set out in the Council’s constitution. 
 
67. 22/00022 - Active Travel Funding Tranche 2  
(Item 9) 
 
RESOLVED to endorse the proposed decision of the Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Transport to proceed to consideration of alternative options for Thanet, 
Gravesend, and Folkestone Active Travel Schemes. 
 
68. 22/00023 - Transport for the South East continuation of voluntary 
participation  
(Item 10) 
 
Mark Welch (Principal Transport Planner) was in attendance for this item.  
 

1. Mr Brazier explained the proposed decision, the role of Transport for the South 

East and that the participant councils provided match funding, with the 

Department for Transport providing the main portion of funding. He informed 

the committee that the Leader of the Council would be the decision taker as 

Strategic Partnerships fell within his portfolio.  

 

2. Mr Rayner asked how KCC ensured that it received representation 

proportionate to its large road network. Mr Welch confirmed that in addition to 

the main body, that KCC was part of a subregion study group alongside 

Medway Council and East Sussex County Council, which gave the Council 

further input into area specific investigations.  

 

3. Mr Lewis asked whether the Council’s financial contributions to Transport for 

the South East had improved transport outcomes for Kent and if it presented 

good value for money. Mr Watkins, as KCC’s board member on Transport for 

the South East, reassured the committee that Kent’s voice was heard and that 

the authority was appropriately represented. He explained the importance of 

the body’s studies and stated that it proved good value for money. He noted 

the Department for Transport’s preference for working with subregional 

transport bodies when building multi-authority encompassing infrastructure. 

 

4. Mr Lewis moved and Ms Dawkins seconded an amendment to add “and at the 

same time investigate the setting up of a Transport for Kent body” to the 

recommendation.  

 

5. Mr Rayner moved and Mrs Hudson seconded that the amendment be put. 

This was carried. 

 

6. Members voted on the amendment. The amendment was lost. 

RESOLVED to endorse the proposed decision of the Leader of the Council to agree 
to: 
 

Page 31 Agenda Item 14



 

4 

1. Kent County Council continuing to participate in a non-statutory voluntary Sub 
National Transport Body (SNTB) for the South East, known as Transport for the 
South East (TfSE), at the cost, for the purposes, and with the membership, set out in 
the accompanying report; and 
 
2. Delegate to the Corporate Director Growth, Environment and Transport to take, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport, the actions 
necessary to implement the decision subject to the Council’s decision-making 
procedures.  
 
 
69. 22/00025 - Bearsted Road Improvement Scheme  
(Item 11) 
 
Lee Burchill (Major Capital Programme Manager) and Barry Stiff (Senior Project 
Manager) were in attendance for this item. 
 

1. Mr Burchill gave a technical overview of the Road Improvement Scheme and 

confirmed that funding from the Department for Transport’s National 

Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF) would cover a significant portion of the 

scheme’s costs. 

 

2. Mr Chittenden described his monitoring of the scheme’s development, in his 

capacity as a local member. He raised concerns that there had been 

inadequate public notice that the plan for the scheme had changed, from a 

three-lane highway with a low retaining wall to a four-lane dual carriageway 

with a four-metre-high wall. He stated that there had been a lack of 

consultation on scheme, as it was proposed, and that the scheme as it stood 

would negatively impact the rural landscape adjacent to the road.  

 

3. Mr Burchill confirmed that the proposed four-lane dual carriageway would 

ease future maintenance and ensured less disruption to traffic. Mr Stiff 

reassured members that extensive ecology surveys had been carried out and 

that the dual carriageway and three lane options were similar in overall 

footprint.  

 

4. Mr Brazier and Mr Jones confirmed that they were satisfied with professional 

assurance received in relation to the scheme. 

 

5. Mr Chittenden asked that further information related to the professional 

assurance received in relation to the scheme be shared with members and 

published. Mr Stiff agreed to share the scheme’s ecology and other advisory 

reports with members following the meeting. 

 

6. Mr Chittenden moved and Mr Lewis seconded a motion “that the Environment 

and Transport Cabinet Committee recommend that the Corporate Director of 

Growth, Environment and Transport investigate and ensure that all 

investigations, consultations and reports including landscaping and planning in 

relation to biodiversity are in place and prior to proceeding with the work it is 

brought back to this committee for final recommendation.” 

Page 32Agenda Item 14



 

5 

 

7. Members voted on the motion. The motion was lost. 

 

8. The chairman moved “that the Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee 

endorse the proposed decision of the Cabinet Member for Highways and 

Transport to give approval to: 

i) Adopt The Bearsted Road dualling scheme shown on Drg. No. 70040984-
SK-0086 for development control, land charge disclosures and 
implementation; 
ii) Retain the current scheme for widening Bearsted Road to three lanes 
scheme shown on Drg. No. 70040984-SK-0087; 
iii) Delegate the decision to decide which of the two scheme options (Drg. No. 
70040984-SK-0086 or Drg. No.70040984-SK-0087) is delivered to the 
Corporate Director of Growth, Environment & Transport under the Officer 
Scheme of Delegations following the views of this Committee and after prior 
consultation with the Cabinet Member; 
iv) Give authority to enter into the appropriate land, development and funding 
agreements and the award of the construction contract, and all other acts and 
consents and any subsidiary contracts required to allow the scheme to be 
implemented; 
v) Delegate to the Corporate Director of Growth, Environment & Transport 
under the Officer Scheme of Delegations following prior consultation with the 
Cabinet Member, any further or other decisions as may be appropriate to 
deliver the Bearsted Road scheme; 
vi) Confirm that other decisions in Record of Decision 18/00026 remain 
extant.” 
 

9. Members voted on the motion. The motion was carried.  

RESOLVED to endorse the proposed decision of the Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Transport to give approval to: 
 
i) Adopt The Bearsted Road dualling scheme shown on Drg. No. 70040984-SK-0086 
for development control, land charge disclosures and implementation; 
 
ii) Retain the current scheme for widening Bearsted Road to three lanes scheme 
shown on Drg. No. 70040984-SK-0087; 
 
iii) Delegate the decision to decide which of the two scheme options (Drg. No. 
70040984-SK-0086 or Drg. No.70040984-SK-0087) is delivered to the Corporate 
Director of Growth, Environment & Transport under the Officer Scheme of 
Delegations following the views of this Committee and after prior consultation with the 
Cabinet Member; 
 
iv) Give authority to enter into the appropriate land, development and funding 
agreements and the award of the construction contract, and all other acts and 
consents and any subsidiary contracts required to allow the scheme to be 
implemented; 
 
v) Delegate to the Corporate Director of Growth, Environment & Transport under the 
Officer Scheme of Delegations following prior consultation with the Cabinet Member, 

Page 33 Agenda Item 14



 

6 

any further or other decisions as may be appropriate to deliver the Bearsted Road 
scheme; and 
 
vi) Confirm that other decisions in Record of Decision 18/00026 remain extant. 
 
70. 22/00026 - Heritage Conservation Strategy  
(Item 12) 
 
Lis Dyson (Heritage Conservation Manager) was in attendance for this item.  
 

1. Miss Carey gave a verbal overview of the key decision and read a statement 

prepared by Mr Ridgers, KCC’s heritage champion and chairman of the 

Heritage Member Working Group, which spoke of the importance of protecting 

Kent’s historical artefacts and infrastructure, with the strategy acting as the 

Council’s guide in this regard.  

 

2. Ms Dyson addressed the response to the public consultation, which had been 

overwhelmingly positive. She noted that whilst still positive, the policies 

relating to metal detecting on the KCC estate aspect of the strategy were less 

popular. She confirmed that a new strategic aim had been added in relation to 

climate change, as a result of the consultation.  

 

3. The chairman emphasised the importance of strengthening planning in relation 

to heritage buildings.  

 

4. Mr Lewis asked whether there were any plans to involve school children in 

heritage. Ms Dyson confirmed that many of KCC’s heritage sites had school 

visits, which were impacted by the pandemic. She confirmed that a full range 

of school visits would be facilitated from April 2022.  

RESOLVED to endorse the proposed decision of the Cabinet Member for 
Environment to agree to adopt the revised Heritage Conservation Strategy. 
 
71. 22/00029 - Solar Farm  
(Item 13) 
 
Jonathan White (Project and Operations Manager) was in attendance for this item.  
 

1. Miss Carey explained the purpose of the key decision and reminded members 

that it would be funded through the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme. 

She highlighted the tight timescale of the proposed decision, which was a 

result of contractual and funding deadlines. She confirmed that the solar farm 

would save KCC more than £760,000 a year in energy costs. Reassurance 

was given that a report would be brought to the committee, addressing the 

spending of KCC’s £20.6m Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme grant, 

including the net impact on carbon reduction and energy use.  

 

2. Mr Rayner asked whether there was flooding mitigation on the solar farm. Mr 

White confirmed that flooding mitigations were in place, with the panels 1.2m 

above ground level.  

 

Page 34Agenda Item 14



 

7 

3. Mr Chittenden asked if the solar farm had been connected to the national grid 

and why some warranties were only 2 years. Mr White confirmed that the solar 

farm was connected to the national grid, that all panels and inverters were 

new, and that warranties were dependent on specific pieces of equipment, 

with the contactor warranty period lasting for 2 years followed by the 

manufacturer warranty.  

 

4. Mr Hood asked whether the Council could renew the lease on the solar farm’s 

land. Mr White confirmed that there was the potential to renew the lease at the 

appropriate time. 

 

5. Mrs Hudson asked whether the solar panels were sourced from ethical 

suppliers. Mr White confirmed that whilst the panels were produced in China, 

due diligence had been carried out to ensure that the manufacturer was not 

involved in forced labour practices in Xinjiang.  

RESOLVED to endorse the proposed decision of the Cabinet Member for 
Environment to: 

 
1. Support the purchase, by Commercial Services Kent Limited, of the Special 
Purpose Vehicle (SPV), via the deployment of £14.415M of Public Sector 
Decarbonisation Scheme (PSDS) Funding (see decision 21/00034 for further 
details on PSDS Funding). 
 
2. For the Corporate Director of Growth, Environment and Transport in 
consultation with the Director of Infrastructure and the Corporate Director of 
Finance, to transfer the necessary PSDS funding to Commercial Services Kent 
Limited for the purchase of the SPV, subject to: 

 the terms and conditions of the PSDS grant being met;  

 the technical, legal, and due diligence conclusions being acceptable to 

KCC;  

 and that the remaining funding for the project can be secured. 

3. Delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Growth, Environment and 
Transport to take relevant actions, including, but not limited to, entering into 
contract and other legal agreements as required to arrange and deliver this 
project. 

 
72. Green Economy - Prospects and Opportunities  
(Item 14) 
 

1. Miss Carey introduced the report and welcomed the committee’s steer on 

further areas for consideration within the scope of the green economy.  

 

2. Mrs Holt-Castle detailed the existing support and advice services that KCC 

provided to small to medium-sized enterprises. She confirmed that the 3 key 

carbon areas under investigations were: domestic housing; institutional 

buildings; and transport. She noted that the report would also be considered 

by the Growth, Economic Development and Communities Cabinet Committee.  

 

Page 35 Agenda Item 14



 

8 

3. Members highlighted the following areas for further investigation and 

consideration by the Cabinet Member and Cabinet Committee: 

a. The chairman suggested green energy storage and security 

b. Mr Hood suggested sustainable mass transport solutions 

c. Mr Watkins suggested green skills, supply chains and housing 

d. Mr Hills suggested green power solutions for the fishing industry 

e. Ms Dawkins suggested green manufacturing and tidal energy 

f. Mr Lewis suggested green food production 

g. Mr Collor suggested high paid green job creation 

RESOLVED that the current and planned activity to support the development of the 
green economy in Kent be noted.  
 
73. Risk Register  
(Item 15) 
 
Jody Catterall (Risk Manager) was in attendance for this item. 
 

1. Ms Catterall gave a verbal overview of the Risk Register, including Growth, 

Environment and Transport’s two corporate and eleven directorate risks. She 

asked the committee for suggestions or amendments to the Register.  

 

2. Mr Jeffrey asked that transport risks and the impact of significant public 

transport disruption be incorporated into the Risk Register. 

 

3. Ms Dawkins asked that the cost of living be factored into the Risk Register. 

RESOLVED to note and comment on the risks presented. 
 
74. Performance Dashboard  
(Item 16) 
 
Rachel Kennard (Chief Analyst) was in attendance for this item. 
 

1. Ms Kennard gave a verbal summary of the fourth performance dashboard of 

the 2021/22 financial year, which included the period up to December 2021. 

She confirmed that of the 19 key performance indicators within the remit of 

environment and transport, 15 had been RAG rated green, 3 amber and 1 red. 

She stated that this reflected good overall performance and that recruitment 

challenges, vacancies and staff sickness had been notable factors in the red 

rating. 

RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 
75. Work Programme  
(Item 17) 
 
RESOLVED that the work programme be noted. 
 
 
 
 

Page 36Agenda Item 14


	Agenda
	at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

	4 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Dartford Joint Transportation Board held on 8 March 2022
	8 Matters Arising
	dh.bg.dh.FINAL Updated Work Plan June 2022 JTB

	14 KCC - Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee
	KCC Minutes 18 January 2022 Environment Transport Cabinet Committee
	KCC Minutes 17  March 2022 Environment Transport Cabinet Committee


